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FINANCIALS AT A GLANCE

FOR THE YEAR 2018/19 2017/18

Turnover 76,612,912 58,776,708

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 17,454,654 6,451,550

Profit/(Loss) After Tax 14,904,315 4,289,747

  

AT THE YEAR END  

Shareholders’ Funds   304,309,359   294,504,339

Total Assets 323,759,990 307,775,507

Company Employment (No of Persons) 49 45

  

PER SHARE  

Earnings (Rs) 0.28 0.04

Dividend (Rs) 0.30 0.10

Net Assets (Rs) 5.66 5.48

Market Value (Closing Price) (Rs) 6.60 6.00

Highest Price (Rs.) 7.30 10.00

Lowest Price (Rs.) 4.10 5.90

  

RATIO  

Gross Profit (%) 87% 87%

Current Ratio (Times) 9.28 10.51

Dividend Payout (%) 1.23% 2.44%

 

PUBLIC HOLDING  

Percentage of Public Holding As at 31st March 10% 10%
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ANNUAL REVIEW

We are pleased to present our Annual Review of Bansei 
Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC.
 
Coral Rock by Bansei is a full guest service provider. We 
place particular pride in the quality of our restaurant which 
serves both Japanese style cuisine and a variety of Western 
cuisine. The choice of food and variety at Coral Rock has 
been a welcome novelty in Sri Lankan hospitality. In order 
to achieve and sustain our high standard of food service 
our team of chefs have received extensive training; both 
locally, and in Japan. Training in Japan has been at a top 
tier restaurant which has been consecutively listed in the 
Michelin Tokyo guide.
 
We are also proud to be able to provide our guests with an 
unparalleled spa treatment experience to relax and unwind 
during their stay.

We welcome you to our new website at: www.bansei-resorts.
com. This was launched in the renewal of our domain host 
registration and to reach a wider clientele. We note that our 
previous corporate website at: www.bansei-resorts.lk, is still 
being maintained in the interests of recurring guests who 
might not yet be familiar with the new site.

At a glance, the performance of the hotel has been 
sustainable in 2018. We have achieved a profit before tax 
of LKR 17.45 M compared to LKR 6.45 M of the previous 
year. The room revenue has increased by LKR 13.8 M, 
and profit by LKR 10.8 M. We note however that we 
consistently make an effort to improve the quality of our 
service; particularly the restaurant, and conduct strategic 
marketing efforts targeting both in house guests and non-
guest restaurant clientele. The revenue of the restaurant has 
increased by LKR 2.7 M and profit by LKR 1 M. Revenue 
from the spa was the same as last year at LKR 0.4 M.

Our dedicated team of staff are constantly striving for 
better overall results, through more strategic marketing, 
an improved quality of service, and expert financial 
management. 

GLOBAL TOURISM
Tourism is a steadily growing industry. In 2005, global 
tourism arrival was LKR 528 million. In 2015, this figure was 
1.19 billion. It is expected that global tourism consumption 
reaches LKR 1.8 billion by 2030.

Comparatively, Europe receives the most international tourist 
arrivals per year and also produce the most travellers per 
continent. This is more than double than that of the Asia 
Pacific region, which is the second largest tourist origin.

International visitor spending is both variable per region and 
local economy.

SRI LANKA TOURISM
The Sri Lankan tourism industry has been sufficiently robust 
to withstand the cyclical changes of the economy and the 
shifting tides of political influence.

While the efforts of the Sri Lanka Tourism Development 
Authority to maintain a steady stream of inbound tourists is 
critical to the expansion of the industry, the individual and 
collective efforts of service providers decide the rate of this 
growth and development to be achieved.

CONCLUSION
We wish to thank our shareholders, creditors, clients, 
suppliers, and employees for their contributions and efforts 
towards the growth and development of this company and 
reiterate our commitment to enhance the value of your 
investments and efforts.
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SITED FROM LEFT TO RIGHT
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Deputy Chairman

Mr. T. De Zoysa
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Director/ Chief Executive Officer

Mr. J. V. W. Malawana
Director
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Director

Mr. G. C. A. De Silva
Director

Mr. C. S. J. Perera
Director
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A well-known figure in the Sri Lankan Business community, Mr.Tilak de Zoysa, FCMI 
(UK) FPRI (SL), Honorary Consul for Croatia and Global Ambassador for HelpAge 
International was conferred the title of “Deshabandu” by His Excellency the President 
of Sri Lanka in recognition of his services to the country and was the recipient of “The 
Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays with Neck Ribbon” conferred by his Majesty “The 
Emperor of Japan.” Recipient of the LMD lifetime achiever’s Award 2017”

In addition to being the Chairman of the Supervisory Board (AMW) and Advisor to 
Al-Futtaim Group of Companies in Sri Lanka. He Chairs, Carson Cumber batch PLC, 
Associated CEAT (Pvt) Ltd., Amaya Hotels and Resorts USA (Radisson), Jetwing  Zinc 
Journey Lanka (Pvt) Ltd., Trinity Steel (Pvt) Ltd. CG Corp Global Sri Lanka ,  Dutch 
Lanka Trailer Manufacturers (TATA Group). HelpAge Sri Lanka and The Colombo 
YMBA.

He is also the Vice Chairman of CEAT Kelani Holdings (Pvt) Ltd., Orient Insurance 
Ltd, and serves on the board of several listed and private Companies which include 
TAL Lanka Hotels PLC (Taj), TAL Hotels & Resorts Ltd, Nawaloka Hospitals 
PLC, Associated Electrical Corporation Ltd, INOAC Polymer Lanka (Pvt) Ltd, 
Cinnovation INC., GVR Lanka (Pvt) Ltd, and Varun Beverages Lanka (Pvt) Ltd 
(Pepsi).

Mr.Tilak de Zoysa is a Past Chairman of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce, the 
National Chamber of Commerce of Sri Lanka, HelpAge International (UK) and 
served as a Member of the Monetary Board of Sri Lanka (2003-2009). 

Mr. de Zoysa, was appointed to the Board on 20th June 2014.

Mr. Toyohiko Murakami is the Chief Executive of Bansei Group Japan.
Mr. Murakami has over 31 years of experience in managing various business fields 
consisting of Securities, Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate.
Mr. Murakami has a degree in Bachelor of Law from Kyoto University, Japan.

Mr. Murakami joined Bansei Securities Co., Ltd. in November 2005. 
He was appointed to Executive Vice President in February 2006 and to President and 
C.E.O of the Company in June 2009.

He is also the Chairman of Bansei Hoken (Insurance) Community Co. Ltd. which is 
one of the sister companies of Bansei Securities Co., Ltd.

Formerly Mr. Murakami was Advisor with Zenkoku Hosho Co., Ltd from November 
2005 to February 2006 and Director of H. S. Securities Co., Ltd from June 2002 to 
August 2005.

In Sri Lanka, Mr. Murakami serves as a Director of Pan Asia Banking Corporation, 
Vallibel Finance PLC, Bansei Holding LK (Pvt) Ltd, Bansei Securities Capital (Pvt) 
Ltd, Bentota Club Villa (Pvt) Ltd.

Mr. Murakami was appointed to the Board on 30th June 2013.

Mr. T. De Zoysa
Chairman

Mr. T. Murakami
Deputy Chairman
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Mr. Malawana has a long spanning career in the Financial services industry. He 
held senior positions at Colombo Stock Exchange and Brunei Stock Exchange, 
HSBC Premier and Standard Chartered Bank and is credited for structuring and 
creating novel investment instruments tailored specifically for foreign investors into 
Sri Lanka. He later founded and served as Chief Executive Officer of New World 
Securities Pvt. Ltd, a trading member of the Colombo Stock Exchange. 

Mr. Malawana is currently the Managing Director of the NWS Holdings Group of 
Companies whilst also sitting on the Board of Directors of Ideal Finance Limited 
a registered Finance Company under the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, Wealthtrust 
Securities Ltd, a registered Primary Dealer, Strategic Business Innovator Pvt. Ltd, 
Veritas Holdings Pvt. Ltd, Sushi Bar Samurai Pvt. Ltd and SB Restaurants Pvt. Ltd, a 
partner company of Jetwing Hotels Ltd. He was also the former Chairman of Bansei 
Securities Capital Pvt. Ltd, a licensed Margin Provider and currently serves as a 
Consultant to the Company. 

His most recent appointment is Director of the Ministry of Fisheries and was 
previously a Member of the Advisory Committee to the Ministry of Tourism, 
specializing in the Japanese tourist segment.  

Mr. Malawana was appointed to the Board on 24th February 2014.

Mr. Ota is the Managing Director of Bansei Securities Co. Ltd, and counts over 31 
years of experience in finance business (Commercial Banking, Trust Banking, Lease 
Finance, Securities Business). Mr. Ota has a Bachelor of Law from Kyoto University, 
Japan. 

He joined Bansei Securities Co. as a Managing Director in November 2014. He has 
supported Mr.Toyohiko Murakami who is the Chief Executive of Bansei Group to 
transfer the Company to be strong and profitable. He is known as the man who has 
bridged Sri Lanka and Japan in Financial Business.

Formerly he worked for The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan (April 1982- 
September 2000) and Sumitomo Trust & Banking Co. Ltd (October 2000- September 
2011) and Ricoh Co. Ltd (October 2011- October 2014).

Mr. Ota was appointed to the Board on 12th March 2015.

Mr. Channa is a professional holding a Bachelors Degree from the University of 
Colombo, and two Masters Degrees from Harvard University as well as University of 
Melbourne (MBA).

 He is also a Fellow Chartered Institute of Management Accountant (London) – 
FCMA, and Fellow Chartered Certified Accountant -(London) FCCA. He is also 
member of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investments - London (MCSI).
He currently serves in the advisory Boards of ACCA, CISI, Colombo University 
Alumni Association, Neelan Tiruchelvam Trust and the Sarvodaya movement.

He is the Chairman of Sarvodaya Development Finance as well as Chairman of 
Capital Media (Pvt) Ltd, publishers Echenon Magazine, Cosmopolitan Sri Lanka Top 
Gear Sri Lanka and EconomyNext.com, RepublicNext.com news Portal.

Mr. De Silva, was appointed to the Board on 23rd February 2011.

BOARD  OF  DIRECTORS

Mr. H. Ota
Director/ Chief Executive Officer

Mr. G. C. A. De Silva
Non-Executive Director

Mr. J. V. W. Malawana
Non-Executive Director
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Surith is a Chief Executive Officer at Watawala Tea Ceylon Ltd, the market leader in 
branded tea in Sri Lanka. He possesses broad experience in marketing FMCG brands, 
across Home care, Personal care and Foods categories with Unilever Sri Lanka, with 
further experience gained at Hindustan Unilever. He has as a proven track record of 
providing situational and forward thinking leadership and has been responsible for 
developing some of Unilever Sri Lanka’s leading brands and taking Watawala Tea 
Ceylon to a leadership position. Prior to joining Watawala Tea Ceylon he was a Board 
Member at Unilever Sri Lanka.

He possesses an MBA from the Post Graduate Institute of Management, University of 
Sri Jayewardenepura, Sri Lanka, and is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants, UK.

Mr. Perera, was appointed to the Board on 12th March 2014.

Mr. C. S. J. Perera
Independent/Non-Executive Director

Mr. H. Premaratne
Independent/Non-Executive Director

Mr. Hasitha is Director of Brandix Apparel Ltd and is the Group Chief Financial 
Officer of Brandix. He leads the overall Finance Function of the Group and is also 
responsible for Brandix India Apparel City. He overlooks the Joint Ventures and 
Investments of the Group and is a Director of many subsidiaries of Brandix Group, 
including listed Company Textured Jersey Lanka Ltd.

He was formally the Head of Research at HNB Stockbrokers (Pvt) Ltd and processes 
plenty of experience in the fields of capital markets, economics, strategic finance, 
management, research. His lecturing experience expands for 12 years, for CIMA 
(UK), ACCA (UK) examinations, in Sri Lanka, India, Singapore and Philippines. He 
was a Board Member of the CIMA Sri Lanka during 2016.

He holds a MBA in International Finance and a B.Sc in Computer Science. He is a 
Fellow Member of Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA-UK), 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA-UK) and the Institute of 
Certified Management Accountants (CMA-SL). He is also a Chartered Global 
Management Account (CGMA). 

Hasitha was the winner of the “Tutor of The Year Award” at CIMA Global Financial 
Management Awards 2009 held in London during November 2009. He was the 
Winner and Gold Medalist of prestigious “CIMA Star of the year” award in 2012 and 
the Winner of “Young CIMA Star of the year” award, in 2006. 

Mr. Premaratne, was appointed to the Board on 11th March 2014.
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Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC., by engaging its 
leadership and operational teams in developing a robust, 
responsive and active risk management process has created 
and nurtured a risk management culture that is vigilant, 
alert, proactive, consistent and fast to respond effectively 
in managing risk. Through this process we have developed 
a better understanding of major risks, encouraged and 
facilitated the sharing of best practices in the hotel and 
reduced the overall cost of risk by continuously improving 
our risk management approaches.

The main elements of the process which comprise risk 
identification, evaluation, prioritization and management, 
enables us to strike an appropriate balance between 
entrepreneurship and the risk associated with business 
opportunities along a path of sustainable growth which 
balances the need and requirement for safeguarding assets 
with opportunities to create value for our shareholders.

The Board assumes responsibility for ensuring the 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and system of 
internal control and has entrusted the Board Audit Committee 
with the task of reviewing the processes, assessing adequacy 
and ensuring effectiveness.

Risk and the review of the internal controls is an agenda of 
Board meetings which ensures that well thought-out and 
appropriate action plans are implemented to manage emerging 
risk with robust control measures. Furthermore, the review 
of the internal control and procedures relating to financial, 
statutory, regulatory and related compliances are also 
repeating items on the Agenda.   

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The risk management framework enables us to understand 
material risks that we currently face as well as emerging risks. 
This framework ensures that risks are effectively identified 
and assessed and that appropriate controls and responses are 
in place.

The risk management team comprising of the Chairman to 
the Audit Committee, functional and operational managers 
take responsibility for the early identification of potential 
risks. Risks are identified at hotel level through various 
means including intelligence gathering, quality audits, and 
risk management assessments. They are also identified as a 
result of incidents customer insight surveys and assessments. 
Those risks having a catastrophic impact on the organization, 
but may have a very low or zero probability of occurrence 
are referred to as core sustainability risks. These are risks that 
threaten the sustainability or long term viability of a business 
and are typically risks stemming from our impact on the 
environment or society that will have an eventual negative 
impact on the longevity of our business operations.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Following a process of obtaining the input of all concerned, 
several options are identified and appropriate risk 
management measures such as acceptance, mitigation, 
transfer or control of particular risks had been properly 
monitored. Action plans are reviewed at appropriate levels 
in the organizational structure and escalated either to drive 
action or to develop a common solution and implemented 
along with measures to continuously monitor the 
effectiveness of same.

The hotel has maintained insurance at levels determined by it 
to be appropriate in relation to the cost of cover and the risk 
profile of the property.

As an outcome of the risk management process, the Audit 
Committee has received quarterly confirmations of financial 
and operational compliance from the hotel management with 
the sustainability reports.

RISK ENVIRONMENT AND RISK PROFILE
The leisure industry in Sri Lanka was characterized by strong 
overall growth in tourist arrivals. This growth rate was static 
up to 2016 and however, evidence of the possible impact 
of the recession in Europe was seen in the drop in tourist 
arrivals from the European markets (Specifically from Eastern 
Europe). The biggest risk faced by the operations in 2018 was 
the shift in global travel generating markets from the West 
to the East and internal clashes among European countries. 
Although a sharp depreciation of the Sri Lankan Rupee 
against the US Dollar took placed towards end of the financial 
year 17/18 remaining throughout the financial year 18/19 
and risk exposure and the profile of the group did not change 
significantly last year. A review of the key risks that could 
materially affect the hotel with the control measures and 
action plans implemented to mitigate them are set out bellow.
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Risk category and description Potential Impact
Control measures and action plans to 

mitigate risk.
Strategic Risk : Market Share
Loss of market share in a high growth 
environment or industry over capacity.

Reduction in market share and loss of 
revenue.

The company adopts a policy of 
refurbishing the hotel whenever 
necessary and refreshing the themes of 
hotel’s food & beverage offerings.
Considering the expansion options 
available at the moment through strategic 
new investments.
Innovating and trend setting while 
benchmarking with global competition.

Business Risk
The inability of the Hotel to achieve its 
business objectives.

Adverse impact on planed profitability 
and cash flows.

Availability of affordable credit

Increase in operating and assets 
replacement costs due to fluctuation in 
exchange rates.

Corporate plans are formulated on 
annual basis and formally approved by 
the Board. These plans are thereafter 
monitored and reviewed by the Board on 
an ongoing basis.
Implementation of stringent cost control 
procedures and innovative cost saving 
initiatives in the hotel level.
Ongoing review of cost and expenditure 
by operational and finance staff to 
determine appropriate revision of rates 
and tariffs.

Statutory & Legal Risk
Implications that arise due to 
non-compliance with regulatory 
requirements.

Risk of litigations from guests, 
customers, suppliers, associates and 
regulatory authorities.

Loss which may arise due to non-
compliance with statutes.

Enhanced incidence and potential 
exposure due to proposed legislation

Loss arising from flawed contracts.

Statutory returns including taxes are 
regularly monitored, reviewed and 
scrutinized by the Financial Officer. A 
comprehensive financial and operational 
checklist is reviewed by senior 
management on a monthly basis.
Active engagement with industry 
advisory and policy making bodies 
to articulate concerns and make 
representations upon invitation.
Continuous review and development of 
information systems which detect and 
report deviations.
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Risk category and description Potential Impact
Control measures and action plans to 

mitigate risk.
Operational Risk
Demand
The adverse impact on Hotel turnover 
due to over / under capacity and / or 
weak demand in traditional source 
markets.

Amplified negative impact on revenue 
streams during the off peak season.

Lower room rates and lower growth 
prospects.

Expansion of distribution channels 
through digitised web and direct 
marketing strategies.
Participation in global and regional 
tourism promotional events in potential 
and emerging markets.
Maintaining dynamic relationship with 
key overseas industry partners through 
direct contact and local representatives.
Cultivating and nurturing guest loyalty 
by recognizing and rewarding guests who 
frequently patronize the hotel.
Collaborating with the local tourism 
authorities to mitigate where appropriate 
adverse media reports and canvassing 
relaxation of negative travel advisories.
Collaborating with local tourism 
authorities in marketing initiatives 
undertaken in key generating markets.
Introduction of unique and innovative 
services to create demand for the 
destination.

Project implementation Risk
The adverse impact on hotel revenues 
due to delaying projects.

Cost over runs and loss of earnings due 
to delays.

Exposure to risk of repetitive nature.

Establishing project timelines in 
consultation with all relevant parties.
Formal process established to cover 
project consultancy , project award and 
material procurement
Specialized teams monitor project 
progress and compliance with established 
sustainability guidelines.
Learning derived from mitigating risks 
identified during project implementation 
is documented for future reference.
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Risk category and description Potential Impact
Control measures and action plans to 

mitigate risk.
Competition
Competitive actions from industry peers 
and threat of new entrants.

Erosion of market share, lower 
occupancy and rates.

Ongoing and timely investments to 
upgrade the hotel and its facilities.
By providing superior service quality.
Providing value for money by enhancing 
services, improving service delivery and 
focusing on consistent quality.
Monitoring adherence to brand standard 
across the hotel.
Exceeding customer expectations by 
careful analysis of guest feedback 
and providing appropriate and prompt 
responses to identified issues.
Strong focus on innovation and nurturing 
an environment conducive to creative 
thinking.
Benchmarking against globally 
recognized quality standards.
Monitoring of customer service index 
reports on regular basis to see whether 
any lapses in facilities and the service 
areas.

Brand Equity and Reputation
Any event that could undermine the 
brand equity and the reputation of the 
hotel and/or failure to sustain the appeal 
of the hotel brand to its customers.

Decline in customer base, loss of market 
share, market penetration and ability to 
develop the business

Inability to maintain room rate 
differentiation and competitive 
advantage

Erosion in confidence may damage 
sustainability of hotel business

Although some factors are beyond its 
control, the hotel adopts the following 
approaches to mitigate this risk.

Innovative service in keeping with brand 
promise.
The hotel ensures that key managerial 
positions are held by suitably qualified 
and trained staff with sufficient 
experience in the hotel industry.
Ongoing attention to environment, 
health and safety concerns by obtaining 
appropriate recognised quality 
certification standards.
Hotel operation is monitored against 
and guided by the Standard Operating 
procedures (SOP).
Continuous monitoring and review of on-
line customer reviews and ratings.
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Risk category and description Potential Impact
Control measures and action plans to 

mitigate risk.
Personnel
The risk of losing highly skilled staff 
and key personnel due to industry 
growth, inappropriate labor.

Inability to maintain quality standards 
and meet guest expectations.

Higher operational cost and loss of 
business.

Identification of talent pool for 
succession planning.
Structured training arising from 
performance appraisal process.
Developing a spirit of unity by 
organizing associate gatherings to 
celebrate staff birthdays, outings, sport 
days, family get-togethers and religious 
and cultural festivals

Technology and data protection Risk 
Failure to keep pace with developments 
in the technology could impair our 
competitive position and operations

Adverse impact on efficiency of 
operations, guest satisfaction and loss of 
competitive advantage.

Additional investment in new 
technologies/systems to remain 
competitive.

The IT division of the hotel has 
implemented procedures to safeguard 
the computer installations of the hotel to 
ensure continuity of operations.
Reservation and property management 
system upgraded for greater alignment 
with business needs making it easier to 
respond to changes in business strategy.
Business continuity and disaster recovery 
plans have been place in line in case for 
any emergency situations. 

Internal operational process
Risk of financial loss due to breakdown 
in internal controls.

Disruption of operations , loss of 
profits and ineffective use of assets and 
resources

Clearly defined systems and procedures 
are in place to ensure compliance with 
internal controls, which are monitored 
and reviewed for their continued 
efficiency and effectiveness.
Quarterly confirmation of compliance 
with financial, operational and 
sustainability procedures and 
requirements.

Risks associated with and arising from global economic uncertainty, greater regulation, financial volatility, growing competition for 
markets and talent are among the key risks that will pose a challenge in the future.

In conclusion, the Board is pleased to confirm that a process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks that 
endanger the achievement of the strategic objectives of Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC., has been in place throughout the 
year in accordance with the guidelines set out by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and industry best practice.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS & 
PERFORMANCE
The Annual Review provides an overall assessment of the 
Company’s Operations and Performance during the financial 
year under review on Page 03.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The Company is engaged in the Hotel Industry.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Financial Statements of the Company are given on Pages 
26-29 in the Annual Report.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTOR’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors Responsibilities in compliance with the 
requirements in preparation of Financial Statements are set 
out in Page 21.

AUDITOR’S REPORT
The Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements is given on 
Page 22-25.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
There has been no change in the Accounting Policies adopted 
by the Company in preparation of Financial Statements 
during the Financial Year under review.

INTERESTS REGISTER
An interest Register is maintained, in compliance with the 
Companies act No.07 of 2007. The particulars of the entries 
made in connection with the General Disclosure in term of 
Section 192(2) of the Companies act No.07 of 2007 are given 
in Note 25 under Related Party Transaction.

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION 
The remuneration paid to the Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors during the financial year under review is given in 
Note 25.2 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS & CEO’S SHAREHOLDING
The Directors and the CEO of the Company did not hold any 
Shares at the beginning and or at the end of the financial year. 

AUDITORS
The accounts for the year have been audited by M/s. Ernst 
& Young, Chartered Accountants, who retire and are eligible 
for re-appointment. The Directors recommend their re-
appointment. The Auditors were paid a sum of Rs. 470,000/-
as Audit Fees and Rs. 43,050/- as Non Audit Fees by the 
Company for the financial year under review. As far as the 
Board is aware the Auditors do not have any relationship with 
the Company other than carrying out the External Audit. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
An analysis of the property, plant and equipment of the 
Company, additions and disposals made during the year and 
depreciation charged during the year are set out in Note 6 of 
the Financial Statement. 

Extent, Locations, number of buildings and Valuation of the 
properties are given in the Statement of Value of Real State 
on Page 57.

MARKET VALUE OF LAND AND 
BUILDINGS
The market values of Land and Buildings owned by the 
Company are included on the basis of valuation carried out by 
a professionally qualified valuer. Detailed description is given 
in Page 57.

STATED CAPITAL
The Stated Capital of the Company as at 31st March 2019 
was Rs.272,280,000/- representing 53,728,000 Ordinary 
Shares. The structure of the Stated Capital is given in Note 11 
of the Financial Statement.

The Directors of Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC, present their report together with the Audited Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2019.

The Report contains pertinent information and disclosures required under the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, the Listing Rules 
of the Colombo Stock Exchange, recommended Best Practices of Corporate Governance and the requirements of the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.
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DIRECTORATE
The Members of the Board during the financial year under 
review were as follows :-

Mr. T de Zoysa - Independent / Non-Executive 
Mr. T Murakami - Non-Executive
Mr. H Ota - Executive
Mr. J V W Malawana - Non-Executive
Mr. G C A De Silva - Non-Executive
Mr. H Premaratne - Independent / Non-Executive
Mr. C S J Perera - Independent / Non-Executive

The Profile of the Board of Directors of the Company are 
given in Page 4 to 7 Board of Directors with the nature 
of Directorship composition of each community and the 
membership status of each member and indication of the 
member of the Audit Committee who is the member of 
a recognized professional Accounting body are given in      
Page 18.

RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS AND THEIR 
REELECTION 
Mr. G C A De Silva, retires by rotation, in accordance with 
Article 24(6) of the Articles of Association of the Company, 
and he is eligible for re-election.

RE-APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR WHO IS 
OVER 70 YEARS OF AGE 
Upon the recommendation of the Board, it is recommended 
that Mr.Tilak De Zoysa, who is 72 years of age be re-
appointed as Directors in terms of Section 211 of the 
Companies Act, declaring that the age limit stipulated in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act 2007, shall not apply to the 
said Director.

DECLARATIONS BY INDEPENDENT/NON 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
An Non- Executive/ Independent Directors have submitted 
signed declarations confirming their independent status 
in compliance with Rules 7.10.3 of the Colombo stock 
Exchange. 

TURNOVER 
The gross income of the Company after deducting Turnover 
Tax and Defense levy was Rs 76.6M.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CHARITIES
Charities and the Donations by the Company amounted to  
Rs. 67,100/- There is no charity to the Organization approved 
by the Government.

DIVIDENDS 
The Board of Directors recommends a First & Final Dividend 
of Cents 30 per share payable for 2018/2019. The Directors 
are confident that the Company would meet the Solvency 
Test requirement under Section 56(2) of the Companies Act 
of No.07 of 2007, immediately after the proposed Dividend 
distribution.

SHAREHOLDING
As at 31.03.2019 there were 666 Registered Shareholders. 
The distribution, categories and location of shareholders 
areindicated on Page 57.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDINGS
The 20 major Shareholders of the Company as at 31st March 
2018 and 2019 are listed on Page 56.

PUBLIC HOLDING 
As at 31st March 2019 there were 666 registered 
Shareholders. The Public Holding as at the said date was 10% 
representing 662 Shareholders.

MATERIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO 
EMPLOYEES & INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
There were no material issues relating to Employees and 
Industrial Relations during the year ended 31st March 2019.

STATUTORY PAYMENTS
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief are 
satisfied that all statutory payments have been made up to 
date or provided for same.

INTERESTS REGISTER
An Interests Register is maintained, in compliance with the 
Companies Act No.07 of 2007. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
The Board of Directors has taken adequate precautions to 
ensure that the Company does not engage in any activities 
which could be detrimental to the environment and 
contravenes laws and regulations

TAXATION
The Tax position of the Company is given in Note 20 to the 
Financial Statements.

STOCK MARKET INFORMATION 
Information relating to earnings, dividends, net assets per 
share, trading price, public holding are given on page 01.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors place great emphasis on good 
Corporate Governance practices and principles and ensures 
that the Company adheres with the codes of Best Practice 
on Corporate Governance. The compliance of Corporate 
Governance by the Company is set out on Pages 17 & 18.

GOING CONCERN
The Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the 
Company has adequate resources to continue its operations in 
the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company continues to 
adopt a going concern concept in preparing the accounts of 
the Company.

EQUITABLE TREATMENT TO 
SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has at all times ensured that all Shareholders 
are treated equitably.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s 
Systems of Internal Control. The Company’s internal 
control and check systems have been designed to provide 
the Directors with reasonable assurance that the Assets are 
protected, safeguarded and transactions are authorized thereby 
ensuring that errors and irregularities are either prevented or 
detected within a timely period, whilst ensuring that Corporate 
Governance is properly practiced and adhered to.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors has structured proper systems 
and controls to identify probable risk. These systems are 
periodically evaluated and reviewed by the Board to ensure 
smooth functioning. Remedial measures also have been 
implemented to mitigate risk See Pages 8-12.

POST - BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Subsequent to the date of the Balance Sheet no circumstance 
has arisen which require adjustments to the accounts.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
The Annual General Meeting is scheduled to be held on 
Monday at 10.00 a.m on 26th August 2019. The Notice of the 
meeting is given on Page 59.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

 ……………..……………… …………………………….
 H Ota Mr. Channa De Silva
 Director /CEO Director

…………………….………..
Corporate Arcade Ltd 

Company Secretaries

08th July 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC., (BRRH) continues to 
be committed to conducting the Company’s business ethically 
and in accordance with high standards of good Corporate 
Governance.

We set out below the Corporate Governance practices adopted 
and practised by BRRH PLC., against the background of the 
Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and the Rules 
set out in Section 7 of the Colombo Stock Exchange’s Listing 
Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. H. Ota

Non-Executive directors
Mr. T. Murakami 
Mr. G. C. A. de Silva
Mr. J. V. W. Malawana

Non-Executive, Independent Directors
Mr. T. De Zoysa 
Mr. H. Premaratne 
Mr. C. S. J. Perera

RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors of the Company are responsible for formulation 
of Company policy and overall business strategy. The 
implementation of policy and strategy is done in a framework 
that requires compliance with applicable laws and regulations 
as well as establishing best practices in dealing with 
employees, customers, suppliers and the community at large. 
The annual capital expenditure budgets, non-budgeted capital 
expenditure, the annual budgeted operating statements require 
Board approval.

The Board meets regularly to review performance and 
forecasts against budgets so as to take decisions in the best 
interest of the Company.

BOARD BALANCE
The Board comprises seven Directors out of which six 
Directors are Non- Executives and three of them are 
independent. Non-Executive Directors’ profiles reflect 
their calibre and the weight, and their views carry in Board 
deliberations.

The Independent / Non-Executive Directors have submitted 
their Declarations keeping in line with the Listing Rules of 
the Colombo Stock Exchange.

 

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Corporate Arcade Limited functions as secretaries to the 
Board.

They ensure that appropriate Board processes are adopted, 
board procedures and applicable rules and regulations 
adhered to and a proper record of all proceedings of Board 
meetings is maintained.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board of Directors confirm the Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2019, of Bansei Royal Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC have been prepared  in accordance with the 
Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007. The Company has duly complied with 
all the reporting requirements prescribed by the regulatory 
authorities including the Colombo Stock Exchange and 
the Registrar of Companies. Financial Statements of the 
Company were audited by Ernst & Young, Chartered 
Accountants. The Independent Auditors’ Report on the 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2019 is 
presented on Page(s) 22-54 of this Annual Report.

SUPPLY OF INFORMATION
Directors are provided with quarterly reports on performance 
and such other reports and documents as are necessary.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises of Mr. Toyohiko 
Murakami, Mr. Surith Perera and Mr. Hasitha Premaratne of 
whom Mr. Toyohiko Murakami functions as the Chairman of 
the Committee.

The Committee is responsible for evaluating and 
recommending to the Board the Remuneration Policy 
and Practices that supports the strategic direction and the 
objectives of the company. The remuneration policy of 
the Company is to attract, motivate and retain high quality 
executive talent by reference to the corporate goals and 
objectives resolved by the Board of Directors from time to 
time.

During the period under review, the Committee continued 
its responsibility of formulating and recommending to 
the Board, Remuneration Policy which would help the 
organization to attract, retain and to motivate its staff taking 
into consideration Industrial norms.

The Committee is responsible for determining the 
Compensation of all the Management Staff.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Channa de Silva, 
Mr. Hasitha Premaratne and Mr. Surith Perera of whom 
Mr. Channa de Silva, functions as the Chairman of the 
Committee.

The report of the Audit Committee is given on Page(s) 19.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
REVIEW COMMITTEE
The Related Party Transactions Review Committee comprises 
Mr. T. de Zoysa , Mr. Hasitha Premaratne and Mr. Surith 
Perera of whom Mr. T. de Zoysa, functions as the Chairman 
of the Committee.

The report of the Related Party Transactions Review 
Committee is given on Page(s) 20.

GOING CONCERN
The Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the 
Company has adequate resources to continue its operations in 
the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company continues to 
adopt a going concern concept in preparing the accounts of 
the Company.

No Name of Director
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1 Mr. T.de Zoysa  

2 Mr. T. Murakami  

3 Mr. H. Ota 

4 Mr. G. C. A. de Silva   

5 Mr. J. V. W. 
Malawana 

6 Mr. H. Premaratne    

7 Mr. C. S. J. Perera    

The Members of the Audit Committee decided that the CEO of 
the Company shall participate at the Audit Committee Meetings 
whenever his is in the Island and in the instants he is not, to 
communicate / update the CEO the outcome of the meeting.
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MEMBERSHIP & APPOINTMENT
The audit committee comprises of two independent Non- 
Executive Directors. The members of the Board appointed 
Audit Committee are:

Mr. Channa De Silva – Chairman, Mr. Hasitha Premaratne, 
and
Mr. Surith Perera.

The audit committee has a Term of Reference, dealing 
clearly with its authority and duties. This is established 
for the purpose of assisting the board in fulfilling their 
responsibilities regarding the integrity of the Financial 
Statements, risk management, internal control, and 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, review 
of External Auditors performances, Independence and the 
internal audit functions.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Committee considered reports from the Accountant, 
and annual financial statements. It also considered reports 
from the external auditors, Ernst & Young on the scope and 
outcome of the annual audit. The review is based on the 
compliance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and the 
other related legislation.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

RISK AND CONTROLS
During the year, the committee assessed the major business 
and control risks and the control environment prevalent in 
the company and advised the Board on actions to be taken 
in areas where weaknesses were observed. The committee 
analysed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control 
system already in place and the processes for identification, 
evaluation and management of all significant risks including 
frauds and operational failures.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The committee met with the External Auditor during the 
year to discuss their audit approach and procedures. It also 
reviewed and approved the Scope of Non-Audit services 
provided by Ernst & Young, to ensure that there was no 
impairment of independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS
The Audit Committee conducts a review of its effectiveness 
annually and concluded this year that it was effective and able 
to fulfil its objectives.

(sgd)
Mr. Channa De Silva Chairman
Audit Committee 23 July 2019
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
REVIEW COMMITTEE REPORT
COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Related Party Transactions Review Committee was 
appointed by the Board of Directors of the  Company  on  
10th March 2016. As at 31st March 2019 it comprised the 
following Directors,

Mr. T. de Zoysa – Chairman (Independent / Non-Executive) 
Mr. Hasitha Premaratne (Independent / Non-Executive)

Mr. Surith Perera (Independent / Non-Executive)

MEETINGS OF COMMITTEE
The Committee had four meetings in the year 2018/2019. The 
committee discussed, reviewed all related party transactions 
which were entered into. The minutes were circulated to the 
Board of Directors for their information and review.

PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE
The purpose of the Committee as set out in its written Terms 
of Reference (TOR), is to review in advance all proposed 
Related Party Transactions other than those transactions 
explicitly exempted in the TOR which are in conformity 
with the Listing Rules. Accordingly, except for transactions 
mentioned therein, all other Related Party Transactions 
are required to be reviewed by the Committee either prior 
to the transaction being entered into or, if the transaction 
is expressed to be conditional on such review, prior to the 
completion of the transaction.

SCOPE OF THE COMMITTEE INCLUDES:
Reviewing in advance all proposed Related Party 
Transactions of the Company except those explicitly 
exempted by the TOR;

Adopting policies and procedures to review Related Party 
Transactions of the Company and reviewing and overseeing 
existing policies and procedures;

Determining whether Related Party Transactions that are to 
be entered into by the Company require the approval of the 
Board or Shareholders of the Company;

If Related Party Transactions are ongoing (Recurrent Related 
Party Transactions) the Committee establishes guidelines for 
senior management to follow in its ongoing dealings with the 
relevant related party.

Ensuring that no Director of the Company shall participate in 
any discussion of a proposed Related Party Transaction for 
which he or she is a related party, unless such Director is

requested to do so by the Committee for the express purpose 
of providing information concerning the Related Party 
Transaction to the Committee.

If there is any potential conflict in any Related Party 
Transaction, the Committee may recommend the creation 
of a special committee to review and approve the proposed 
Related Party Transaction.

Ensuring that immediate market disclosures and disclosures 
in the Annual Report as required by the applicable rules/
regulations are made in a timely and detailed manner.

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Sri Lanka Accounting standards define Related Party 
Transactions. This definition is consistent with Section 9 
of the listing rules of CSE. Under these the members of the 
Board of Directors of the Company have been identified as 
Key Management Personnel. In accordance with the Related 
Party Transaction Policy, declarations are obtained from 
each Key Management Personnel of the Company for the 
purpose of identifying parties related to them. Based on the 
information furnished in these declarations, the Company 
retrieves data on related party transactions from the data base 
of the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
DURING 2018/19
During the year 2018/19, there were both recurrent and no 
non- recurrent related party transactions that exceeded the 
respective thresholds mentioned in the Listing Rules of the 
Colombo Stock Exchange.

Repayment of miscellaneous operational costs advanced by 
the Company’s affiliate, Bansei Holdings LK (Pvt) Ltd.

Details of other related party transactions entered into by the 
Company during the above period is disclosed in Note 25 to 
the financial statements.

DECLARATION
The Board of Directors hereby declares that no Related Party 
Transaction falling within the ambit of the Listing Rules 
was entered in to by the Company during the financial year 
2018/19.



21ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible, under Section 150 (1), 151, 
of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, to ensure compliance 
with the requirements set out therein to prepare Financial 
Statements for each financial year giving a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Income 
Statement for the financial year end. The Directors are also 
responsible, under section 148 for ensuring that proper 
accounting records are kept to disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy, the financial position and enable preparation of the 
Financial Statements.

The Board accepts responsibility for the integrity and 
objectivity of the Financial Statements presented. The 
Directors confirm that in preparing the Financial Statements, 
appropriate Accounting Policies have been selected and 
applied consistently while reasonable and prudent judgments 
have been made so that the form and substance of transactions 
are properly reflected.
 

They also confirm that the Financial Statements have been 
prepared and presented in accordance with the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards. The Financial Statements provide the 
information required by the Companies Act and the Listing 
Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

The Directors have taken reasonable measures to safeguard 
the assets of the Company and, in that context, have instituted 
appropriate systems of internal control with a view to 
preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are confident that they have discharged their 
responsibility as set out in this statement. They also confirm 
that to the best of their knowledge, all statutory payments 
payable by the Company as at the balance sheet date have 
been paid or where relevant, provided for.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bansei Royal 
Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC.

 Mr. H. Ota Mr. Channa De Silva
 Director/CEO Director

23rd July 2019
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MPDC/WSKP/JJ

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANSEI ROYAL RESORTS HIKKADUWA PLC.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC (“the Company”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019 and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
March 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka (“Code of Ethics”) and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.   

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to 
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statements.

(Contd…2/)

BANSEI ROYAL RESORTS HIKKADUWA PLC.,
(Previously known as Coral Rock Hotels (Private) Limited)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 March 2019
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Adoption of new accounting standard SLFRS 15 – 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The Company has adopted SLFRS 15 from 1 April 2018 as 
explained in note 3.1.1 a) to the financial statements. 
 
Due to the significance of the consideration made and 
activities performed by the Company in determining 
the impact of SLFRS 15 as explained in note 3. 1. 1. 
a., specially the application of principal versus agent 
consideration in the contracts related to revenue, we have 
considered such as a key audit matter.

Among other audit procedures in adoption of new revenue 
accounting standard, we performed following specific procedures:

 » We assessed the Company’s implementation process of 
SLFRS 15, to support revenue recognition according to new 
revenue accounting standard.

 » We examined a sample of contracts to assess whether method 
for recognition of revenue was relevant and consistent with 
SLFRS 15 and applied consistently. 

In addition, we assessed the adequacy of the related financial 
statement disclosures in Note No 3.1.1 a) and Note No.15.

Other information included in The Company’s 2019 Annual Report
Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

 
(Contd..3/-)
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(Contd..4/-)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SLAuSs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with SLAuSs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:  

 » Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 » Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Company.

 » Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.  

 » Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 » Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
that were required for the audit and, as far as appears from our examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the 
Company.

CA Sri Lanka membership number of the engagement partner responsible for signing this independent auditor’s report is 1516.  

26 June 2019
Colombo
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  2019 2018
 Note Rs. Rs.

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets   
Property, Plant and Equipment  6 208,203,970 214,104,483

  208,203,970 214,104,483
Current Assets   
Inventories 7 1,300,212 1,180,057
Trade and Other Receivables 8 7,642,060 7,317,828
Advance, deposits and prepayments  1,498,357 1,288,631
Income Tax Receivable  622,209  - 
Short Term Deposits 9 84,321,273 59,451,841
Cash and Bank Balances 10 20,171,910 24,432,667
  115,556,020 93,671,024
Total Assets  323,759,990 307,775,507
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Capital and Reserves   
Stated Capital 11 272,280,000 272,280,000
Retained Earnings  32,029,359 22,224,339
Total Equity  304,309,359 294,504,339
   
Non-Current Liabilities   
Retirement Benefit Obligation 12 809,534 747,248
Deferred tax liability 20.2 6,202,070 3,607,207
  7,011,604 4,354,455

Current Liabilities    
Trade and Other Payables 13 11,829,921 8,654,820
Income Tax Payable   -  261,893
Amount Due to Related Party 14 609,105  - 
  12,439,026 8,916,713
Total Equity and Liabilities  323,759,990 307,775,507
   
I certify that the financial statements comply with the requirement of Companies Act No 07 of 2007.

 ....................................
 Finance Officer

The Board of Directors is responsible for these Financial Statements. Signed for and on behalf of the Board by;

 

 .................................... .................................... 
 Director Director 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 through 54 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

26 June 2019
Colombo

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2019
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  2019 2018
 Note Rs. Rs.
 
Revenue from Contract with Customers 15 76,612,912 58,776,708

Cost of Sales  (10,129,032) (7,682,755)

Gross Profit  66,483,880 51,093,953

Other Income 16 52,033 204,884

Administrative Expenses  (52,455,363) (48,755,528)

Sales and Marketing Expenses  (4,225,865) (3,064,855)

Operating Profit/(Loss)  9,854,684 (521,546)

Finance Cost 17 (1,713) (51,121)

Finance Income 18 7,601,683 7,024,218

Profit before Tax 19 17,454,654 6,451,550

Tax Expenses  20 (2,550,339) (2,161,803)

Profit for the year  14,904,315 4,289,747

Other Comprehensive Income / (Expense) not to be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods 
Actuarial Gain on Defined Benefit Plan  12 318,030 50,205

Deferred tax effect 20.3 (44,524) (7,029)
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods  273,506 43,176

Total Comprehensive Income for the year, net of tax  15,177,820 4,332,923

Basic Earnings per share 21 0.28 0.08
 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 through 54 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.  
 
 
 
26-Jun-19 
Colombo 

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 March 2019
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  Stated   Retained  
  Capital   Earnings Total
  Rs.   Rs.   Rs. 
 
Balance as at 01 April 2017 272,280,000 23,264,216 295,544,216

Profit for the year - 4,289,747 4,289,747

Other comprehensive income - 43,176 43,176

Total comprehensive income 272,280,000 27,597,139 299,877,139

Dividend Paid                 -    (5,372,800) (5,372,800)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 272,280,000 22,224,339 294,504,339

Profit for the year                 -    14,904,315 14,904,315

Other comprehensive income - 273,506 273,506

Total comprehensive income 272,280,000 37,402,159 309,682,159

Dividend Paid 22 - (5,372,800) (5,372,800)

Balance as at 31 March 2019 272,280,000 32,029,359 304,309,359
       
The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 through 54 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 March 2019
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  2,019  2,018 
 Note Rs. Rs.

Cash Flows from/(used in) Operating Activities     
Profit before Tax  17,454,654  6,451,550 

Adjustments for    
     Depreciation 6.2 10,945,971 11,670,309
     Provision for Defined Benefit Obligation 12 427,680  436,903 
     Exchange Loss 17 1,713  51,121 
     Interest income 18 (7,601,683) (7,024,218)

Exchange Gain 16 (38,285)                     -   
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes  21,190,050  11,585,666 

     (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories 7 (120,154) 27,906 
     (Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 8 (324,231) 641,493 
     (Increase)/Decrease in Advance, deposits & prepayments  (209,726) 416,311 
     Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 13 3,175,101  2,009,703 

Increase/(Decrease) in Amount Due to Related Party 14 609,105                      -   
Cash Generated from Operations  24,320,145  14,681,080 

     Tax paid  (884,102) (1,396,802)
     Gratuity Paid  (47,364) (419,574)

Net Cash from Operating Activities  23,388,679  12,864,704 
     
Cash Flows from/(used in) Investing Activities     
     Investment / Upliftment of Short Term Investments  (24,869,431)                     -   
     Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment 6.1 (5,045,458) (2,614,434)
     Interest Income Received 18 7,601,683  6,969,025 

Interest Income capitalised   
Net Cash from Investing Activities  (22,313,206) 4,354,591 
     
Cash Flows used in Financing Activities     
     Dividend Paid  (5,372,800) (5,372,800)
Net Cash used in Financing Activities  (5,372,800) (5,372,800)
     
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 16-17 36,572  (51,121)
     
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (4,260,755) 11,795,374 
     
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year  24,432,667  12,637,294 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 10 20,171,911  24,432,667 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 through 54 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2019
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
1.1 General

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC (Previously known as “Coral Rock Hotels (Private) Limited”) (“Company”) is a 
Public Limited Liability Company incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka. The ordinary shares of the Company are listed 
on the Colombo Stock Exchange of Sri Lanka. The registered office of the Company is located at 4th Floor, World Trade 
Centre, Colombo 01, and the principal place of business is located at No. 340, Galle Road, Hikkaduwa.

1.2 Principal Activities and Nature of Operations
During the year, the principal activities of the Company were providing food, beverage, lodging and other hospitality 
industry related services.

1.3 Parent Entity and Ultimate Parent Entity
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Bansei Securities Co Limited and the 
ultimate parent undertaking is Bansei Holdings Co Limited, both the companies are incorporated in Japan.

1.4 Approval of Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC for the year ended 31 March 2019 were authorized for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019.

1.5 Responsibility for Financial Statements
The responsibility of the Directors in relation to the Financial Statements is set out in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibility Report in the Annual Report.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The financial statements of the Company comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and cash flow statement Statement together with the 
Accounting Policies and Notes to the financial statements.

2.1 Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act No. 
15 of 1995, which requires compliance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRSs/LKAS) promulgated by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka), and also in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
No. 7 of 2007.
  

2.2 Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees (Rs.).

2.4 Materiality and Aggregation
Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the Financial Statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or 
function are presented separately unless they are immaterial.

2.5 Comparative Information
Comparative information including quantitative, narrative and descriptive information as relevant is disclosed in respect of 
previous period in the Financial Statements.

No reclassifications have been made in the financial statement due to the adoption of SLFRS 15 and SLFRS 09.

2.6 Offsetting
Assets and liabilities or income and expenses, are not offset unless required or permitted by Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards.

2.7 Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of income, expenses, assets, liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.

Judgments and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Hence, actual experience and results may differ from these judgments and estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period and any future periods.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are discussed below.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
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Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Management assigns useful lives and residual values to property, plant and equipment based on the intended use of assets 
and the economic lives of these assets. Subsequent changes in circumstances such as technological advances or utilization 
of the assets concerned could result in the actual useful lives or residual values differing from initial estimates. Management 
reviews annually the residual values and useful lives of major items of property, plant and equipment. Refer Note 3.5.7 for 
useful lives used in depreciating Property, Plant and Equipment in the Company.

Retirement Benefit Obligations

The cost of defined benefit plan is determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various 
assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, 
future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-
term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. Further details about the assumptions used are provided in Note 12.

Deferred Tax

Deferred Tax Assets as reflected in Note 20.2 are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Changes in Accounting policies and disclosures
3.1.1 New and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied SLFRS 15 and SLFRS 9 for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption 
of these new accounting standards are described below.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2018/19, but do not have an impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. The Company has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued but are not yet effective.

a) SLFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
SLFRS 15 supersedes LKAS 11 Construction Contracts, LKAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations. It applies with 
limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with its customers. SLFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to 
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

SLFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances 
when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for 
the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard 
requires extensive disclosures.

The Group carried out an impact analysis of the possible impact from adoption of the SLFRS 15 across all the services 
offered by each Hotel in the Group. The key aspects covered are as follows.
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• Identified all the goods or services, or contract deliverables, which have been promised within usual course of carrying 
out services of the Hotels. In determining this, the management looked at implicitly or explicitly promised services 
including customary business practices or policies of the hotel. Having considered the same, each hotel then determined 
that in all principle services rendered, there was one distinct performance obligation rather than many.

• In connection with contracts with travel agents, tour operators, on-line travel agents, corporate customers and free-
individual-travelers, the group identified certain principal vs agent considerations. In recognising revenue from these 
transactions, the Group considered whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the hotel 
services itself (acting as a principal) or to arrange for the other party to provide those such services (acting as an agent). 
In particular, certain on-line travel agent agreements had terms indicative that the Hotels were in fact the principal, while 
in certain other circumstances, considerations that were suggestive of agency considerations were present. However, 
the accounting treatments that were adopted by the Group under the previous accounting standards were the same even 
prior to the application of SLFRS 15. In addition, currently the Group does not have any outsourced other hotel related 
services. Accordingly, this aspect of principal versus agent did not result in material changes to the reported figures, 
despite the analysis and effort carried out by the Group.

After a detailed impact analysis, the Group concluded that the adoption of SLFRS 15 as at 1 April 2018 did not have a 
significant financial impact to the balances as at 1 April 2018.

b) SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments
SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces LKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: 
classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

The Company has applied SLFRS 9 retrospectively, with the initial application date of 1 April 2018 and adjusting the 
comparative information for the period beginning 1 April 2017.

Classification and measurement

Under SLFRS 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, amortised cost, or fair 
value through OCI. The classification is based on two criteria: the Company’s business model for managing the assets; and 
whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount 
outstanding.

The assessment of the Company’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 April 2018, and then 
applied retrospectively to those financial assets that were not derecognised before 1 April 2018. The assessment of whether 
contractual cash flows on debt instruments are solely comprised of principal and interest was made based on the facts and 
circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets.

Trade receivables and Other non-current financial assets previously classified as Loans and receivables are held to collect 
contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. These are now 
classified and measured as Debt instruments at amortised cost. The classification and measurement requirements of SLFRS 
9 did not have a significant impact on the Company.

 Impairment

SLFRS 9 requires the Company to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and trade receivables, 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Company applies the simplified approach and records lifetime expected losses 
on all trade receivables. The Company reassessed the impairment loss recognized by the Company and there was no 
significant effect which arose on the adoption of SLFRS 9.
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3.2 Going Concern
The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it has 
the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 
Financial Statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

3.3 Foreign Currency Transactions
The Financial Statements are presented in Sri Lanka Rupees, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Transactions 
in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at their respective functional currency rate prevailing at the date 
of the transaction first qualifying for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 
recognized in the Statement of profit or loss. All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are taken 
to statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities which are carried in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate that prevailed at the date of the initial transaction.

3.4 Current versus Non-Current Classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position as current and non-current.

An asset is classified as current when it is:
• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

3.5 Property, Plant and Equipment
The Company applies the requirements of LKAS 16 on ‘Property Plant and Equipment’ in accounting for its owned assets 
which are held for and use in the provision of the services or for administration purpose and are expected to be used for 
more than one year.

3.5.1 Basis of recognition
Property, plant and equipment is recognised if it is probable that future economic benefit associated with the assets will 
flow to the Company and cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

3.5.2 Basis of measurement
Items of property, plant & equipment are measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.
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3.5.3 Owned Assets
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Purchased software that is integral to 
the functionality of the related equipment capitalised as a part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

3.5.4 Leased Assets
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Company is classified as a Finance Lease. Finance leases are capitalised 
at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs 
in the statement of profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset and the lease term.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.5.5 Subsequent Costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised in accordance with the derecognition policy 
given below.

The costs of the repair and maintenance of property, plant & equipment are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
as incurred.

3.5.6 Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant & equipment is derecognised on disposal; or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use. Any gains and losses on derecognition are recognised (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) in the Statement of Profit or Loss. Gains are not 
classified as revenue.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019



36 ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

3.5.7 Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
part of an item of property, plant and equipment since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful lives of equivalent owned 
assets unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will have ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is 
not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows;

Buildings on Freehold Land 40 years
Furniture and Fittings 8 years
Tools and Equipment 2 years
Electrical Equipment 5 years
Air Conditioners 4 years 
Computer Equipment 4 years
Kitchen Equipment 4 years
Office Equipment 8 years
Crockery and Cutlery 2 years
Linen 2 years
House Keeping Equipment 2-8 years
Computer System 4 years
Electric Oven 5 years
Generator 10 years

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the dates on which the asset is 
classified as held for sale or is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

3.6 Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making due allowances for obsolete and slow 
moving items. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less, the estimated cost 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost incurred in bringing inventories to its present location and condition is accounted using the following cost 
formulae:

Food and Beverage - At purchase cost on weighted average basis.
Other Inventories  - At purchase cost on weighted average basis.

3.7 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand and demand deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash in hand and deposits in banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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3.8 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or Companies of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples 
or other available fair value indicators.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income in those expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.

If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the Statement of profit or loss.

3.9 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

3.9.1 Financial Assets
3.9.1.1 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Company 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company 
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under SLFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give 
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This 
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 
selling the financial assets, or both.
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Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e.,
the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

3.9.1.2 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories;

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 
derecognition (equity instruments)

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets of the Company represent Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments). The Company 
measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows, and

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and fixed deposits.

3.9.1.3 Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e: removed from the Company’s financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired

Or

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either

a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or

b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the 
Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.
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Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to 
repay.

3.9.1.4 Impairment of financial assets

Further disclosures relating to impairment of financial assets are also provided in the following notes:

• Trade receivables,
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit 
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.

Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 360 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash flows.

3.9.2 Financial liabilities
3.9.2.1 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, payables or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings.

3.9.2.2 Subsequent measurement

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in the Statement of Profit or Loss.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019



40 ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

3.9.2.3 Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss.

3.9.3 Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position if,

• There is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and

• There is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously

3.9.4 Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to 
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any 
deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include:

• Using recent arm’s length market transactions

• Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same

• A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

3.10 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post- employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to Provident 
and Trust Funds covering all employees are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees.

The Company contributes 12% and 3% of gross emoluments to employees as Provident Fund and Trust Fund contribution 
respectively.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The defined benefit is 
calculated by independent actuaries using Projected Unit Credit (PUC) method as recommended by LKAS 19 – “Employee 
benefits”. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to 
maturity approximating to the terms of the related liability. The present value of the defined benefit obligations depends on a 
number of factors that are

determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Key assumptions used in determining the defined 
retirement benefit obligations are given in Note 12. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of 
defined benefit obligations. Actuarial gains or losses are recognised in full in the Other Comprehensive Income.
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Provision has been made for retirement gratuities from the beginning of service for all employees, in conformity with 
LKAS 19 on employee benefit. However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, the liability to an employee 
arises only on completion of 5 years of continued service.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided.

3.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss net of any reimbursement.

3.12 Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.13 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services.

The Company’s gross turnover comprises proceeds from provision of food, beverage, lodging and other hospitality industry 
related activities.

The Company has applied SLFRS 15 first time with the initial application date of 01 April 2018. It has been elected 
modified retrospective method in applying the standard,

SLFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance

found across several Standards and Interpretations within SLFRS. It establishes a new five-step model that will apply to 
revenue arising from contracts with customers.

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that 
create enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for each of those rights and obligations.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation in a contract is a promise to transfer 
a good or service to the customer that is distinct.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price: Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled to in exchange for transferring the promised goods and services to a customer, excluding amounts collected from 
third parties.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than 
one performance obligation, the entity will allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount that 
depicts the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.
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Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

No changes to the revenue recognition point and the measurement bases are occurred due to the adoption of SLFRS 15.

Room Revenue

Revenue is recognized on the rooms occupied on daily basis.

Sale of Food & Beverages

Revenue from sale of food and beverages is recognised at the point in time when control is transferred to the customer, 
generally on delivery of the goods.

Other Hospitality Related Revenue

Other hospitality related services are recognized as the services are performed.

3.14 Other Income
 Interest Income

Interest Income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes in to account the effective yield on the asset unless 
collectibles is in doubt.

 Other Income

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Net gains and losses of a revenue nature on the disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment has been accounted for in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount of the assets and 
related selling expenses.

Gains and losses arising from incidental activities to main revenue generating activities and those arising from a Company 
of similar transactions which are not material, are aggregated, reported and presented on a net basis.

3.15 Expenses
Expenses are recognized in the Statement of profit or loss on the basis of a direct association between the cost incurred and 
the earnings of specific items of income. All expenditure incurred in the running of the business has been charged to income 
in arriving at the profit for the year.

Repairs and renewals are charged to the Statement of profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

3.15.1 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset. 
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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3.16 Taxation
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss except items recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income

3.16.1 Current Income Tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.

Current tax relating to items recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income is recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income and not in the Statement of Profit or Loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.

3.16.2 Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised, except:

• When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, 
would be recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would either 
be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019



44 ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019

3.16.3 Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:

• When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as 
applicable.

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included The net amount of sales tax recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position.

4. GENERAL
4.1 Earnings Per Share

The Company presents basic earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period.

4.2 Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the “indirect method”.Interest paid is classified as operating cash 
flow. Interest income is classified as cash flows from investing activities.

5. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial 
statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

SLFRS 16 Leases
SLFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces LKAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Form of a Lease. SLFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for 
finance leases under LKAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets 
and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., 
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation 
expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to re measure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the 
lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). 
The lessee will generally recognize the amount of the re measurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-
use asset.

SLFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under LKAS 17. SLFRS 16 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies 
SLFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. 
The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.

In 2019, the Company will continue to assess the potential effect of SLFRS 16 on its financial statements.
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 Balance   Balance
  as at   as at
 01.04.2018 Additions Disposal 31.03.2019
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

6.1 Gross Carrying Amounts 
At Cost    
Freehold Land 63,574,071 - - 63,574,071
Buildings on Freehold Land 158,529,270 - - 158,529,270
Furniture and Fittings 20,188,704 442,866 - 20,631,570
Tools and Equipments 336,188 145,000 - 481,188
Electrical Equipments 12,357,173 255,985 - 12,613,158
Air Conditioners 3,973,299 197,282 - 4,170,581
Computer Equipments 1,262,629 36,000 - 1,298,629
Kitchen Equipments 5,217,942 1,376,673 - 6,594,615
Office Equipments 719,908 16,555 - 736,463
Crockery and Cutlery 1,785,997 25,474 - 1,811,471
Linen 1,550,544 2,383,521 - 3,934,065
House Keeping Equipment 504,752 69,600 - 574,352
Computer System 3,817,406 96,502 - 3,913,908
Electric Oven 581,486 - - 581,486
Generator 6,071,099 - - 6,071,099
Total Cost 280,470,470 5,045,458 - 285,515,928
     

6.2 Depreciation    
At Cost    
Buildings on Freehold Land 26,620,554 3,963,232 - 30,583,786
Furniture and Fittings 12,351,595 2,347,611 - 14,699,207
Tools and Equipments 336,188 42,292 - 378,480
Electrical Equipments 9,472,085 1,073,932 - 10,546,017
Air Conditioners 2,265,838 869,980 - 3,135,817
Computer Equipments 1,086,213 59,577 - 1,145,790
Kitchen Equipments 4,954,677 463,333 - 5,418,010
Office Equipments 298,595 88,016 - 386,610
Crockery and Cutlery 1,440,340 335,631 - 1,775,971
Linen 1,174,094 878,900 - 2,052,994
House Keeping Equipment 391,212 65,719 - 456,932
Computer System 2,886,569 105,490 - 2,992,059
Electric Oven 581,487 - - 581,487
Generator 2,506,540 652,260 - 3,158,799
Total Depreciation 66,365,987 10,945,971 - 77,311,959
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTD...)
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

6.3 Net Book Values 
At Cost 
Freehold Land 63,574,071 63,574,071
Buildings on Freehold Land 127,945,484 131,908,716
Furniture and Fittings 5,932,363 7,837,109
Tools and Equipment 102,708 -
Electrical Equipment 2,067,141 2,885,088
Air Conditioners 1,034,764 1,707,462
Computer Equipment 152,839 176,416
Kitchen Equipment 1,176,604 263,265
Office Equipments 349,853 421,314
Crockery and Cutlery 35,501 345,657
Linen 1,881,071 376,450
House Keeping Equipment 117,421 113,540
Computer System 921,850 930,837
 - -
Electric Oven 2,912,300 3,564,559
Generator 208,203,970 214,104,483

Total Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and Equipment 208,203,970 214,104,483

6.4 During the financial year, the Company acquired property, plant and equipment to the aggregate value of Rs. 5,045,458/- 
(2018 - Rs.2,614,434) . Cash payments amounted to Rs.5,045,458 (2018 - Rs.2,614,434) were made during the year for 
purchase of property, plant and equipment.

6.5 Property Plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount of Rs. 20,452,666/- 

7 INVENTORIES
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Food and Beverages 966,475 846,126
Printing and Stationery 96,686 135,292
Shop stock - 6,249
Gas and Charcoal 13,916 28,771
Housekeeping and Maintenance 179,155 144,842
Kitchen Supplier Stock 43,980 18,777
Total Inventories lower of Cost and Net Realisable Value 1,300,212 1,180,057
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

 

Trade Receivables - Other 7,557,913 7,140,364
Trade and Receivable - Related Party 50,089 -
Other Receivables 34,058 177,465
 7,642,060 7,317,828

8.1 Trade receivables
Trade Receivables 7,557,913 7,140,364
 7,557,913 7,140,364

As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of Trade Receivables is as follows; 

 Past due nor impaired 
 Total Neither past
  due nor 30-60 days 60-90 days Over 90 days
 Rs impaired 
 
2019 7,557,913 3,090,470 2,967,910 1,499,533 -
2018 7,140,364 3,205,460 2,276,463 1,174,556 483,831

8.2 Amount due from related parties
 Relationship 2019 2018
  Rs. Rs.
 
Bansei Holdings LK (Pvt) Ltd Fellow Subsidiary 50,089 -

   50,089 -

9. SHORT TERM DEPOSITS
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Fixed Deposits 84,321,273 59,451,841

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

Cash in Hand 425,874  430,257
Cash at Bank 19,746,036  24,002,410
 20,171,910  24,432,667
  

11. STATED CAPITAL 
 2019 2018
 Number Rs. Number Rs.
 
Fully paid Ordinary Shares 53,728,000 272,280,000 53,728,000  272,280,000
 53,728,000 272,280,000 53,728,000  272,280,000
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12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION - GRATUITY
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

Balance as at Beginning of the Year 747,248 780,124 
Current Service Cost 351,087 351,089 
Interest Cost 76,593 85,814 
Actuarial Gain (318,030) (50,205)
Payments Made During the Year (47,364) (419,574)
Balance as at End of the Year 809,534 747,248 

Messrs. Actuarial & Management Consultants (Pvt) Ltd an independent actuary, carried out an actuarial valuation of the 
defined benefit plan gratuity.

The principal assumptions used in determining defined benefit obligation are shown below: 
 
 2019 2018

Discount Rate 11% 10.25%
Salary Increment 10% 10%
Rate of Employee Turnover 4% 6%
Average Expected Future Services 14 Years 11 Years
Sensitivity of assumptions used

 Discount Salary
 Rate Increment
 Rs. Rs.

Effect on the defined benefit obligation liability  
Increase by one percentage point +1% (78,740) 90,225
Decrease by one percentage point -1% 92,005 (78,405)

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

Trade Payables 1,171,395 1,176,329
Amount due to Directors 200,000 18,328
Sundry Creditors including Accrued Expenses 8,381,253 6,346,885
Contract Liabilities 2,077,273 1,113,279
 11,829,921 8,654,819

14. AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED PARTIES
 Relationship 2019 2018
  Rs. Rs.
 
Bansei Holdings LK (Pvt) Ltd Fellow Subsidiary 609,105 -

  609,105 -
 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 
 
All related party transactions have been conducted on agreed commercial terms with respective parties
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15. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Gross Revenue (12.1) 77,456,238 59,354,626 
Less: Tourism Development Levy (843,327) (577,918)
 76,612,912 58,776,708 
 

15.1 Contract liabilities relating to reservation advances received from customers amounting to Rs 2,077,273/- has been reflected 
within trade and other payables in Note 13 (2018 - Rs 1,113,279/-)

15.2 Disaggregation of Revenue 
Room Revenue 55,070,619 41,203,213 
Restaurant Revenue 17,359,707 14,617,243 
Spa Income 490,229 451,884 
Beverage Revenue 3,660,381 2,531,044 
Miscellaneous Income 845,701 551,243 
Tea Hut Income 29,602 - 
 77,456,238 59,354,626 
 
 

16. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Foreign Exchange Gain 38,285 - 
Insurance Claim 13,748 204,884 
 52,033 204,884 
 
 

17. FINANCE COSTS
Exchange Loss 1,713 51,121 
 1,713 51,121 
 
 

18. FINANCE INCOME
Interest on Fixed Deposits 7,417,010 6,864,881 
Interest on Saving Account 184,673 159,337 
 7,601,683 7,024,218 

 
19. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 

 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Stated after Charging

Included in Administrative Expenses 
Employees Benefits including the following 
     - Defined Benefit Plan Costs - Gratuity 427,680 436,903 
     - Defined Contribution Plan Costs - EPF and ETF 2,175,839 1,800,260 
Depreciation 10,945,972 11,670,309 
Auditors’ Fee 527,214 445,200 
Charity and Donation 67,100 71,700 
 
Included in Selling and Marketing Expenses 
Advertisements 32,000 144,060 
 

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019



50 ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

20. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Current Income Tax charge (20.1) - 1,278,408 
Deferred Taxation Charge/(Reversal) (20.3) 2,550,339 890,424 
Income Tax Expense reported in the Income Statement 2,550,339 2,168,832 

 
20.1 A reconciliation between income tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the statutory 

tax rate is as follows;
Accounting Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax 17,454,654 6,451,550 
Disallowed Items 12,506,760 13,212,722 
Allowed Items (29,961,414) (23,991,146)
Business Income - (4,326,874)

Interest income 7,601,683 7,024,218 
Unrelieved business losses (7,601,683) (2,458,476)
 - 4,565,742 

Income Tax @ 14% - - 
Income Tax @ 28% - 1,278,408 
Current Income Tax Charge - 1,278,408 

Tax Losses
Tax Losses Brought Forward 68,912,644 67,187,619 
Tax Losses Utilised during the year (11,397,798) (2,458,476)
Loss incurred during the year - 4,326,874 
Tax Losses Carried Forward 57,514,846 69,056,017 

20.2 Deferred tax assets, liabilities and income tax relates to the followings.
  Statement of Comprehensive Statement of Comprehensive
 Position Income 
 2019 2018 2019 2018

Deferred Tax Liability
Capital allowances for tax purpose 14,367,483 13,379,664 987,819 2,506,579 
 14,367,483 13,379,664 987,819 2,506,579 
Deferred Tax Assets
Post employee benefit liability 113,335 104,615 8,720 11,000 
Carried forward tax losses 8,052,078 9,667,842 (1,615,764) 1,605,155 
 8,165,413 9,772,457 (1,607,044) 1,616,155 

Deferred income tax (income)/expense   2,594,863 890,424 
Net deferred tax liability 6,202,070 3,607,207

20.3 Reconciliation of deferred tax charge/(reversal)
Deferred tax reported in the income statement 2,550,339 897,453 
Deferred tax reported in the other comprehensive income 44,524 (7,029)
Deffered tax caluclated at a rate of 14% 2,594,863 890,424 
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21. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share computations.

21.1 Amount Used as the Numerator:
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.
 
Profit/(Loss) attributable to Ordinary Shareholders for Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share 14,904,315 4,289,747

21.2 Number of Ordinary Shares Used as Denominator:
 Number Number

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares in issue applicable
to Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share 53,728,000 53,728,000

Basic Earnings per share 0.28 0.08

22 DIVIDEND
 2019 2018
 Per Share Amount Per Share Amount
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Declared and paid during the year 
Interim Dividend 0.10 5,372,800 0.10 5,372,800

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
23.1 Capital Expenditure Commitments

The Company does not have significant capital expenditure commitments as at reporting date.

23.2 Contingent Liabilities
The Company does not have significant contingent liabilities as at reporting date.

24. ASSETS PLEDGED
No assets have been pledged as securities as at reporting date.
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Details of significant related party disclosures are as follows:

25.1 Transaction with the Related Entities

a) Nature of Transaction

 Affiliates & Other  
 Related Parties
 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

As at 01 April - -
Consultancy Fee* - -
Advances made during the year - -
Payments during the year (1,872,500) (443,853)
Received During the Year - -
Reimbursement of expenses 2,461,335 443,853
Accommodation sales - -
Reimbursement of advances during the year - -
As at 31 March 588,835 (0)

Fellow Subsidiary : Bansei Holdings LK(Pvt) Ltd

b) Reimbursement of expenses

Bansei Holdings LK (Pvt) Ltd has paid the accommodation charges made for directors on behalf of Bansei Securities 
Company Limited.

   Value of   
   Related Party Aggregate value
   Transaction of the Related
  Nature of the entered into during Party Transaction
Name of the Related Party Relationship transaction the financial year as a % of Revenue

Bansei Holdings Co Ltd Ultimate Parent Dividend 462,061 1%

Bansei Securities Company Limited Parent Dividend 1,802,016 2%

Hikkaduwa Hotel Holdings Private Limited Fellow Subsidiary Dividend 1,432,409 2%

Bansei Holdings LK (Pvt) Ltd Fellow Subsidiary Accommodation 1,872,500 2%

25.2 Transactions with Key Management Personnel of the Company
The Key Management Personnel of the Company are the members of its Board of Directors.

a) Key Management Personnel Compensation

The following compensation have been paid during the year to the Key Management Personnel of the Company, which 
require disclosure in these Financial Statements.
    
 Directors

Nature of Transaction 2019 2018
 Rs. Rs.

As at 01 April 118,328 168,328
Directors fee 381,672 750,000
Settlement -
Payments during the year (300,000) (800,000)
As at 31 March 200,000 118,328
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTD...)
25.3 Other Related Parties Disclosures

No material transactions have taken place during the year with the parties/entities in which Key Management Personnel or 
their Close Family Members have control, joint control , which require to disclosure in these Financial Statements other 
than those disclosed above.

25.4 Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
All related party transactions have been conducted on agreed commercial terms with respective parties

25. FAIR VALUE
Cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

26. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There have been no material events occurring after the reporting date that required adjustment to or disclosure in the 
Financial Statements.

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise Interest Bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. The main 
purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations and to provide guarantees to support its operations. 
The Company has trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that arrive directly from its operations.

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Company’s senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Company’s senior management is 
supported by a financial risk committee that advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance 
framework for the Company.

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. Market prices comprise four types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, commodity price risk and other 
price risk, such as equity price risk. 

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Company’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a different currency from the 
Company’s functional currency) and the borrowings.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2019
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTD..,)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for trade 
receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and foreign exchange 
transactions.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Company’s established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of the customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating 
scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment.

The Company does not hold collateral as security. The Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade 
receivables as low based on the terms with which the long standing business relationship with the customer base.

Liquidity risk

The Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. The Company’s objective is 
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, loans, and finance 
leases. The Company assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low. 
Access to sources of funding is sufficiently available and debt maturing within 12 months can be rolled over with existing 
lenders.

Capital management
Capital includes the equity attributable to the equity holders.

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2019.

The Company’s capital structure comprise of Stated Capital which is disclosed in Note 11.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
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1. TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER

NO OF 
SHARES

AS AT
31/03/2019

%

NO OF 
SHARES

AS AT
31/03/2018

%

1 BANSEI SECURITIES CO. LTD 20,953,677 39.00 20,953,677 39.00

2
HIKKADUWA HOTEL HOLDINGS PRIVATE 
LIMITED

16,655,923 31.00 16,655,923 31.00

3 VERITAS HOLDINGS PVT LTD 5,372,800 10.00 5,372,800 10.00

4 BANSEI HOLDINGS CO. LTD 5,372,800 10.00 5,372,800 10.00

5 MRS. C.V. PERERA 1,009,542 1.88 1,009,542 1.88

6 MR. S.M.D.C.W. SENARATHNE 895,400 1.67 895,400 1.67

7 MR. D.S.K. KARUNARATNE 895,400 1.67 895,400 1.67

8 MRS. A.M. SANDASEELI 662,176 1.23 662,176 1.23

9 MR. V.T. DE ZOYSA  589,414 1.10 589,414 1.10

10 MR. T.G.S. WICKRAMA 156,235 0.29 - -

11 MR. P.H. MANATUNGA 100,000 0.19 100,000 0.19

12 MR. R.E. RAMBUKWELLA 67,786 0.13 45,000 0.08

13
CITIZENS DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS 
FINANCE PLC/ MR.W.G.J.BANDA

52,566 0.10 52,566 0.10

14 SEYLAN BANK PLC/ MR. P. S. WEERASEKERA 40,884 0.08 40,884 0.08

15 MR. D. WEERASINGHE 35,003 0.07 35,003 0.07

16 MR. A.K. MEDAGODA 30,500 0.06 30,500 0.06

17 MR. W.M.A.B. WALISUNDARA  30,000 0.06 30,000 0.06

18 MR.O.V.R.A. ABEYRATHNA 29,430 0.05 - -

19 MR. A.K.S. MENDIS 27,097 0.05 - -

20
PEOPLE'S MERCHANT FINANCE PLC/ MR. 
A.R.S.C. SUGATHASIRI

25,000 0.05 - -

TOTAL 53,001,633 98.68 52,741,085 98.19

The percentage of shares held by the public as per the Colombo Stock Exchange Rules as at 31st March, 2019 was 10% 

The number of shareholders representing the above percentage was 662.

The float adjusted market capitalization as at 31st March, 2019 was Rs. 32,236,800.00

The float adjusted market capitalization of the Company falls under Option 2 of Rule 7.13.1 (b) of the Listing Rules of the 
Colombo Stock Exchange and the Company has complied with the minimum public holding requirement applicable under the said 
option.

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
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1. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS – 31ST MARCH 2019

Resident Non – Resident Total

Value Band
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1 - 1,000 528 155,416 0.29 2 250 - 526 155,666 0.29

1,001 - 10,000 102 361,687 0.67 - - - 90 361,687 0.67

10,001 - 100,000 24 647,280 1.20 - - - 23 647,280 1.20
100,001 - 1,000,000 5 3,198,625 5.95 - - - 25 3,198,625 5.95

1,000,001 & above 2 22,028,723 41.00 3 27,336,019 50.88 5 49,364,742 91.88

TOTAL 661 26,391,731 49.12 5 27,336,269 50.88 666 53,728,000 100.00

2. CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDERS

Categories of
Shareholders

2018 / 2019 2017 / 2018

No of Shares
No of

Shareholders
% No of Shares

No of
Shareholders

%

Individuals 5,181,932 640 9.64 5,188,478 623 9.66

Institutions 48,546,068 26  90.36 48,539,522 24 90.34

Total 53,728,000 666 100.00 53,728,000 647 100.00

Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
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Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC
REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO
Year ended 31 March 2019

Classification Company Location
Land/

Building

Last 
revaluation 

date

Land extent (Perches) Building Fair value 
as at 

31/03/2018 
Rs.

Leasehold Freehold
No of 

Buildings
Building 
in sq. ft

PPE Bansei Royal 
Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC

340 Galle 
Road, 
Hikkaduwa

Building 
Equipment

20.04.2018 1 26,268 212,506,000

PPE Bansei Royal 
Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC

340 Galle 
Road, 
Hikkaduwa

Land 20.04.2018 48.43 121,000,000

PPE Bansei Royal 
Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC

281 Galle 
Road, 
Hikkaduwa

Land 20.04.2018 62.49 94,000,000

PPE Bansei Royal 
Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC

Wawalagona, 
Hikkaduwa

Building 20.04.2018 1 3,741 5,600,000

PPE Bansei Royal 
Resorts 
Hikkaduwa PLC

Wawalagona, 
Hikkaduwa

Land 20.04.2018 8.02 6,900,000
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAME OF THE COMPANY
Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC

FORMER NAMES OF THE COMPANY
Coral Rock Hotels (Private) Limited
Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa Limited

LEGAL STATUS
A Limited Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka 
under the Companies Ordinance as a Private Company on 
22nd February 1973 and re-registered under Companies 
Act No.07 of 2007 on 29th December 2010. The Company 
changed its status to a Public Limited Company with effect 
from 6th March 2014. In March    2014, its shares were Listed 
on the Dirisavi Board of the Colombo Stock Exchange and 
accordingly the Registrar of Companies issued the Public 
Listed Company (PLC) Certificate with effect from 8th 
August 2014.

REGISTRATION NUMBER
PV 20150 PQ
ACCOUNTING YEAR END 
31st March 2019

REGISTERED / BUSINESS OFFICE
Level  04, West Tower, 
World Trade Center,
Colombo 1 

Tel.: +9411 2339135
Fax : +9411 2339138
Web: www.bansei-resorts.lk

HOTEL ADDRESS
No.340, Galle Road,
Hikkaduwa

BANKERS
Commercial Bank PLC
Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC
Hatton National Bank PLC 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr. T de Zoysa
Chairman (Independent/ Non-Executive Director)

Mr. T Murakami
Deputy Chairman (Non-Executive Director)

Mr.H  Ota
Director/Chief Executive Officer

Mr. G  C  A De Silva
Non-Executive Director

Mr.J  V  W  Malawana
Non-Executive Director

Mr.H Premaratne
Independent /Non-Executive Director

Mr. C S J Perera
Independent /Non-Executive Director

COMPANY SECRETARIES & REGISTRARS 
Corporate Arcade Ltd
No.9/4, 1-B, Edmonton Road, 
Kirulapone, 
Colombo 06

Tel. : 2514420 / 2514421
E-Mail : cal@sltnet.lk

AUDITORS
M/s. Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
No.201, De Saram Place,
Colombo 10
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANSEI 
ROYAL RESORTS HIKKADUWA PLC WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY THE 26TH AUGUST 2019 AT 10.00 A.M. AT THE 
“LAVENDER ROOM” OF THE BANDARANAIKE MEMORIAL INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE HALL (B.M.I.C.H.), 
SITUATED AT BAUDDHALOKA MAWATHA, COLOMBO 07, FOR THE FOLLOWING PURPOSES:

AGENDA
1) To receive and consider the Report of the Board of Directors and the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st 

March 2019 together with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2) To declare a First and Final dividend of Cents 30 per share for the Ordinary Shareholders for Financial Year under review.  

3) To re-appoint Mr. Tilak De Zoysa who is over 70 years of age, as a Director by passing the following Resolution as an 
Ordinary Resolution: “IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the age limit stipulated in Section 210 of the Companies Act No. 
7 of 2007 shall not apply to Mr.Tilak De Zoysa who is over 70 years of age and that he be re-appointed as a Director of the 
Company.

4) To re-elect Mr. G C A De Silva, a Director, who retires by rotation in terms of Article 24(6) of the Articles of Association of 
the Company.

5) To re-appoint M/s. Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants, Auditors of the Company, for the ensuing financial year 
2019/2020 and to authorize the Board of Directors to determine their remuneration.

6) To authorize the Board of Directors to determine contributions to charities and other donations for the financial year 
2019/2020.

7) To transact any other business of which due notice has been given.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Corporate Arcade Ltd 
Company Secretaries 

08th July 2019

Note:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him/ her.  A 

proxy need not be a member of the Company. The form of proxy is enclosed for this purpose.

2. To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy should be deposited with the Company Secretaries, Corporate Arcade Ltd at 
No.9/4, 1 – B, Edmonton Road, Colombo 06, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Annual General Meeting. 

3. Shareholders appointing proxies (other than Directors of the Company) to attend the Meeting are requested to indicate 
the number of the National Identity Card of the Proxy holder on the form of proxy. Only registered Proxy holders will be 
permitted to attend the Annual General Meeting.

4. Shareholders/ Proxy holders are requested when attending the Annual General Meeting to bring with them the National   
Identity Card or any other form of valid identification.

NOTICE OF MEETING
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FORM OF PROXY

I/We ................................................................................................. of ................................................................................................

 being a Member/Members of Bansei Royal Resorts Hikkaduwa PLC hereby appoint ........................................................................

......................................................................... holder of NIC No .......................................................................................................

of  ................................................................... or failing him /her

TILAK DE ZOYSA   OF Nugegoda whom failing

TOYOHIKO MURAKAMI of Japan  whom failing

HIROYUKI   OTA of Japan whom failing

JOHN VIRAJ WINSTON MALAWANA of Madiwela whom failing

GINIGE CHANNA AJITH DE SILVA of Colombo 06 whom failing

HASITHA PREMARATNE   of Colombo 05 whom failing

CHRISTOPER SURITH JAYARAJ PERERA of Kalubowila 

as  my / * our   proxy  to   represent  me / * us   on my/ *  our   behalf   as   indicated   below   at  the Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held on Monday the 26th August 2019 and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate your preference by placing a  against the Resolution No.  For Against 

1) To receive and consider the Report of the Board of Directors and the Audited Financial Statements for 
the Year ended 31st March 2019 together with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2) To declare a First and Final dividend of Cents 30 per share for the Ordinary Shareholders for financial 
year under review     

3) To re-appoint Mr. Tilak De Zoysa, who is over 70 years of age, in terms of Section 210(2)(b) of the 
Companies Act.

4) To re-elect Mr. G C A De Silva, who retires by rotation in terms of Article 24(6) of the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

5) To re-appoint M/s.Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants, Auditors  of the Company for the ensuing 
Financial year 2019/2020 and to authorize the Board of Directors to determine their remuneration

6) To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities and other donations for the year 
2019/2020.

As witness my/ our hand/s this .......................... day of ........................................... 2019.

………………………………………. ……………………………………….
NIC No. / Reg. No. Signature
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE COMPLETION OF PROXY

1) Please perfect the form of proxy overleaf, by signing in the space provided and filling in 
the date of signature, after filling in legibly your full name and address.

2) Please return the completed Form of Proxy after deleting one or other of the alternative 
words indicated by asterisks in the body of the form 

3) To be valid, completed form of Proxy should be deposited with the Company 
Secretaries at No.9/4, 1 – B, Edmonton Road, Colombo 06, not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

4) If the form of Proxy has been signed by an attorney, the relative Power of Attorney 
should also as Company the completed form of Proxy for registration, if such Power of 
Attorney has not already been registered with the Company.

5) If the shareholder is a Company or a corporate body, the Proxy should be executed 
under its Common Seal(where applicable) in accordance with its Articles of Association 
or Constitution.

6) If there is any doubt as to how the vote is to be exercised by reason of the manner in 
which the Form of Proxy has been completed, no vote will be recorded.






